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JAMES (JIM) WILES 

James (Jim) Fletcher Wiles was born in Clunes near 

Ballarat, Victoria in June 1883.  

 

 

In the early 1900s he established 

an electroplating plant in Armstrong 

Street, Ballarat and after the 

business was destroyed by fire in 

November 1905, set up an 

engineering firm in Doveton Street 

South, Ballarat.  

 

Wiles had served in the Boer War and noted during his time in the army that the 

feeding of large numbers of soldiers posed quite difficult logistical issues 

 

WILES TRAVELLING ARMY FIELD KITCHEN, 1913 

 

In December 1913 Wiles patented the ‘Wiles 

Travelling Army Field Kitchen’.  

 

Later known as the ‘Wiles Mobile and 

Stationary Steam Cooker’, it was an ingenious 

device containing steam boilers, roasting 

ovens, hot and cold water tanks, stockpots and 

related paraphernalia and could be used to 

quickly prepare  large quantities of food and 

drink.  

 

 

James Fletcher Wiles [samhs.org.au] 

Geelong Advertiser, 11 Nov 1905, p4 

[Wiles Cooker Facebook] 
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The cooker could be operated in both a stationary position or put on wheels and was 

thus capable of rapid transportation by either by motor vehicle or horse.  

 

  

Horse drawn cooker [samhs.org.au] 

[Wiles Cooker Facebook] 
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After testing, about three hundred of the cookers were used by the Australian Army 

during the first world war, Wiles manufacturing them in his Doveton Street plant.  

 

 

However, in early 1918 the Australian 

Army decided that after the war it would 

standardise all of its equipment to 

British Army methods and so 

discontinue using the cooker. Wiles 

was so disappointed by the decision 

that in May 1918 he sold his 

engineering business and moved with 

his family – wife (Adelaide) Margaret 

and six children – to a fruit block near 

Cadell, South Australia.  

 

After running up almost £3,000 in debts 

Wiles abandoned the block and moved 

with his family to Adelaide in April 1926.  

 

 

[Wiles Cooker Facebook] 
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WILES ELECTROPLATERS LTD, 1929 

In Adelaide Wiles worked successively 

for John Shearer and Sons, Kilkenny, 

the Ford Motor Factory, Birkenhead 

and Horwood Bagshaw Ltd, Mile End.  

 

In April 1929 he set up Wiles 

Electroplaters Ltd at 10 North Street, 

Adelaide.  

 

Although the business went into 

voluntary liquidation in October 1931 

Wiles was undeterred, the next month 

establishing the ‘Wiles Chromium 

Plating Company Limited’ in the same premises.  

 

 

WILES CHROMIUM PLATING COMPANY LIMITED, 1934 

In 1934 the business moved to a 0.23 acre/0.09 hectare site at 215 Waymouth Street.  

 

With the assistance of four of his sons – John (Jack) Cuthill 

Wiles (1907-89), James Kenneth (Ken) (1909-86), Richard 

(Dick) Morgan (1911-97) and Ivor William (1916-2001) – 

Wiles built the enterprise into an outstanding success.  

 

 

 

 

Although Wiles used conventional electroplating and bronzing finishes such as copper, 

nickel, silver, tin and zinc to decorate a variety of domestic items like crockery and 

cigarette lighters, he also specialised in the use of chromium.  

 

News, 29 Apr 1929, p9 

Ivor William Wiles [ancestry.com] 

[astimegoesbyvintage.com] 
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Then an innovation in Adelaide, chromium electroplating was particularly useful for 

supplying hardwearing finishes to products as diverse as motor vehicle parts and steel 

axe handles.  
 

In 1936 Wiles claimed that his business, employing sixty workers, was ‘the largest 

jobbing electroplating plant in the southern hemisphere’.  Its advertising slogan was 

‘Better Work Cannot Be Done Than Ours’.  

 

In April 1938 the company’s name was altered slightly to the Wiles Chromium and 

Electroplating Company Limited and it became an incorporated entity.   

 

WILES STEAM COOKERS, 1942 

Wiles died in Adelaide in August 1939.  
 

Just before his death Wiles told his sons that if there 

was another war they should try to adapt his first 

world war cooker for use in the conflict. His sons 

carried out his wishes.  

 

With vital support from 

nutrition expert Lieutenant 

Colonel Dr Cedric Stanton 

Hicks (1892-1976), the 

brothers were able, after 

much bureaucratic hesitation 

from within the federal 

government, to see the 

improved stationary and 

mobile Wiles steam cookers 

in February 1942 approved 

for use by allied troops 

throughout the Pacific theatre 

and elsewhere.  

 

 

Ken Wiles travelled on troop ships across the Pacific and Atlantic Oceans to 

demonstrate the cooker.  By the end of the war the Wiles brothers had manufactured 

almost 3,000 cookers and earned close to £1 million in revenue. One of the Wiles’s 

last wartime orders was a mid-1945 contract to supply £28,000 worth of cookers to 

Dutch troops in the Netherlands East Indies [now Indonesia]. 

 

Updated versions of the cooker, and a smaller model, the Junior Cooker, were used 

by Australian Army until 1980.  

News, 11 Aug 1939, p3 

J. Kenneth Wiles (Son of James Fletcher Wiles with Sir Cedric 
Stanton Hicks) [nashos.org.au] 



 
 

Page 7 of 20 
 

MILE END SOUTH SITE, 1941 

Anticipating Army approval, in 1941-42 the Wiles brothers had bought or leased land 

on Birmingham Street, Mile End South (eastern side of Pymbrah Road) in order to 

build a factory to manufacture the cookers. The land was close to Adelaide and to rail 

links. Production of the stationary cooker began there in mid-1941, the mobile version   

following the next year. 

 

The Wiles’s continued buy land at the site after the war; by May 1952 they had 

accumulated just over five acres/2.02 hectares there, with property on the north and 

south sides of both Manchester and Birmingham Streets. As a consequence of the 

Birmingham Street purchases, in late 1949 the West Torrens council sold a portion  of 

the street to the Wiles brothers for £275. At the company’s peak in the early 1950s its 

factory floor space covered around 2.75 acres. 

 

 

 

  

Wiles Junior Cooker [samhs.org.au] 

Mile End South, 1949 [West Maps Public] 
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Wiles Chromium Company 1940-1942 [SLSA BRG-213-207-5-708] 

Wiles Chromium Company 1940-1942 [SLSA BRG-213-207-5-710] 



 
 

Page 9 of 20 
 

DIVERSIFYING, POST WORLD WAR 2 

After the war, with Ken as managing director, Dick as works director, Ivor as sales 

director and Jack as a general director, the Mile End South site of the Wiles Chromium 

and Electroplating Co. Ltd transitioned dramatically but seamlessly into new areas of 

production. To better reflect its forthcoming change in product range, in mid-June 1945 

Wiles had been renamed as the Wiles Manufacturing Company (the name change 

was not formalised until May 1950).  

 

From early 1946 the company began to focus on two enterprises: the production of 

seeding and tillage implements, including harrows, ploughs, scarifiers and fertiliser 

and seed drills, and the manufacture of a range of prefabricated kitchen units, each  

including a sink, stove, refrigerator, hot water service and steel cupboards. 

 

In an early success, in mid-1946, when it employed around two hundred workers, 

Wiles won a £100,000 contract to supply agricultural implements to the United Nations 

Relief and Rehabilitation Agency. 

 

(In the late 1940s the company also developed a prototype of a new, light motor 

vehicle  based on the German DKW car. Despite extensive road trials around Adelaide 

the car  never went into production). 

 

 

 

  

DKW 1950s-1960s [myautoworld.com] 
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WILES MANUFACTURING COMPANY LIMITED, 1950s 

In the early 1950s the company flourished. A key change for Wiles in these years was 

its mid-1949 decision to move from the manufacture of prefabricated kitchens to the 

production of entire steel structures including small industrial buildings, houses, 

garages, cisterns, wheat bins and water tanks.  
 

At a time of acute postwar housing shortages Wiles focused particularly on the 

production of prefabricated homes.  (Australia’s first all-steel prefabricated house had 

been assembled in Melbourne in nine days in April 1947). Wiles bought much of the 

plant and machinery required to manufacture its new steel products from the 

Commonwealth Aircraft Corporation. Wiles’s change of direction was initially a 

resounding success. 
 

In 1952 Wiles made three sizes of prefabricated steel houses. The smallest size, 

costing £850, consisted of three rooms, steel panel insulated walls, steel roof tiles and 

fittings including a bath sink, stove, tank stand and wash trough. The house could be 

constructed by four workmen in a week.  

 

Wiles Manufacturing Co. Ltd, Steel Buildings, circa 1955 [collections.museumsvictoria.com.au] 



 
 

Page 11 of 20 
 

  

Wiles Manufacturing Co. Ltd, Farm Buildings, circa 1960 [collections.museumsvictoria.com.au] 



 
 

Page 12 of 20 
 

Larger homes of 655 square feet/60.9 square metres and 755 square feet/70.1 square 

metres sold for £1,300 and £1,450 respectively.  

 

By mid-1954, when the Mile End South plant reached its peak employment of 450   

workers – the company had an active sporting and social club – Wiles had 

manufactured around two hundred prefabricated steel houses, 4,500 steel garages 

and ‘thousands’ of steel cisterns for water closets.  

 

The agricultural implement side of the business also did well, in mid-1952 accounting 

for around one half of Wiles’s output.  

 

In August 1952 Wiles’s Mile End South factory, including land, buildings and 

machinery, was valued by the company at £850,000. In the 1950s Wiles also had a 

sales, service and spare parts division in Elizabeth Street, city.    

 

Wiles’s profits reflected its burgeoning success: in 1951-52 the company recorded a 

record net profit of £59,115, with sales up 45.6% from the previous financial year. 

 

Seeking funds for further expansion, in June 1951 Wiles converted to a public 

company with nominal capital of £300,000.   

  

In 1952-53 and 1953-54 Wiles Manufacturing earned the still excellent net profits of 

£46,867 and £47,867 respectively. In December 1953 Wiles shareholders approved 

an increase in the company’s nominal capital to £500,000. By early 1954 the company 

had distribution outlets in every state and had begun assembling its own prefabricated 

production plants in Revesby, Sydney, NSW and Brisbane, Queensland. 

News, 4 Aug 1952, p1 
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In June 1954 Wiles announced the finalisation of an exciting £250,000 deal with the   

Oliver Corporation of Chicago, USA: Wiles would distribute Oliver’s farm machinery in 

South Australia and the Northern Territory while at the same time manufacturing some 

of Oliver’s tillage and cultivation products to suit Australian conditions. 

 

The Waymouth Street site meanwhile continued electroplating work throughout these 

years, specialising in small or ornate items. 

Wiles Scarifier, Jan 1953 [Journal of Agriculture] 
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BUSINESS STRUGGLES, 1950s 

The end for Wiles was surprising and swift. Its net profit for 1954-55 fell dramatically 

to £2,509, in 1955-56 the company recorded a net loss of £59,257, then a catastrophic 

net loss of £251,763 in 1956-57.  

 

In 1957-58 the net loss was £11,973. In January 1957 Wiles had called an 

extraordinary meeting of its creditors. Chairman of directors, J.K. Wiles, explained that 

the deterioration and eventual collapse in 1955-56 of its deal with the Oliver 

Corporation had been a key factor in the company’s crisis.  

 

There had also been ‘reverses in Western Australia’ caused by drought conditions – 

the company ‘could  not easily leave the Western Australian market even if it wanted 

to’ – and losses caused by ‘writing down overvalued stocks’.  

 

Ominously, a couple of months later Wiles removed himself from leadership of the 

company and he and his son Douglas took over the Waymouth Street business in their 

own name to begin Wiles Electroplaters Ltd there. (There was a tragedy at the 

business in late December 1957 when three employees died after being gassed by 

copper cyanide).  

 

An additional problem for Wiles Manufacturing was that as the postwar demand for 

housing was gradually met the need for prefabricated housing fell.  

 

In April 1957 Wiles sold its prefabricated steel building businesses in New South 

Wales and Queensland to a Queensland company. By then Wiles brand distribution 

outlets for its agricultural products in New South Wales and Queensland had been 

closed and the work handed to other companies.  

 

There was occasional good news for Wiles during its declining years.  

 

In March 1958 for example the company won a contract worth almost £107,500 to 

supply mobile steam cookers to the Australian Army.  

 

Wiles then announced in October 1958 that it had won a contract from Wegmann and 

Company of Germany to produce railway coaches.  

 

In 1958-59 Wiles recorded a small net profit of £1,463, its first profit since 1954-55. 

But the following financial year brought a net loss of £43,670. Despite company 

chairman’s C.L. Bonython references to ‘heavy competition’, steel shortages and 

adverse seasons, and the prospect of firm offers to the company for the manufacture 

of railway rolling stock, it was clear that the company’s name had been irreparably 

damaged. 
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WEBB HOLDINGS PTY LTD TAKEOVER, 1961 

Several companies made takeover approaches to Wiles in 1958-60, Bonython 

admitting in October 1959 that ‘the future of the company depends upon its ability to 

attract a takeover bid’.  
 

In early January 1961 Webb Holdings  Pty Ltd, a Melbourne-based radio and electrical 

group, secured 80% of the Wiles Manufacturing Company Limited’s ordinary shares 

and thus ownership of the company.  
 

Four months later Webb Holdings sold Wiles to W.A. Peterson Limited of Melbourne, 

a company described by one newspaper as ‘a hotch potch of heavy engineering and 

radio renting and retail interests’.  
 

Within in a couple of years most of Wiles’s Mile End South land was sold. In early June 

1963, the South Australian Farmers’ Co-operative Union Limited bought Wiles’s 

former site on the northern side of Manchester Street, which included offices, canteen 

and around 0.46 acres/c.0.19 hectares of factory space, for £45,000. (The site had 

shared a common boundary with existing SA Farmers Union property).  
 

In February 1965 0.51 acres/0.21 hectares on Manchester and Birmingham Streets 

was sold to Alwin Fisher SA (Pty Ltd) of Birmingham Street for £13,500. In October 

1963 Wiles’s agricultural implements business had been sold to Horwood Bagshaw. 
 

This was however not quite the end of the Wiles brothers at Mile End South. 

 

 

WILES STEEL STRUCTURES PTY LTD, 1965 

In February and September 1965 Ivor Wiles bought a small site formerly owned by the 

family company on the northern side of Birmingham Street.  
 

Here he established Wiles Steel Structures Pty Ltd, which specialised in the production 

of roller shutter doors and aluminium rolling grilles.  
 

Ivor owned or leased the site until October 1974, when the company ceased business.   
 

Ivor Wiles was also a state lawn bowler for South Australia and for a time in the 1980s 

the president of the Royal South Australian Bowls Association and a national selector.  

 

TOOL CHROME COMPANY PTY LTD 

Wiles Electroplaters relocated to Hendon in the 

mid-1970s; later renamed as the Tool Chrome 

Company Pty Ltd, it is still operating at Wingfield, 

under different ownership, in 2023.  
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RESEARCH INFORMATION 

Interestingly there is a Facebook page dedicated to the Wiles cooker.  

“For those interested in the Wiles cooker and Army cooking in general”. 

 

The page has the following design and instructional sheets and also shows images of 

a Wiles prefabricated house in Keith, South Australia. 

 

 

 

Colonel Stacey [Wiles Cooker facebook] 
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RECIPES FOR THE WILES ARMY COOKER 
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RESOURCES 

 

See also: 

THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE WILES MOBILE AND STATIONARY STEAM 

COOKERS. By J. Kenneth Wiles ( Son of James Fletcher Wiles) 

Revised: November 08, 2000. Edited by Hugh Williams (Nephew of James F. Wiles) 

http://www.nashos.org.au/wiles2.htm 
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